PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellants, RICHARD KEITH MARTIN, ROBERT DOUGLAS MARTIN, MARTIN COMPANIES OF DAYTONA BEACH, MARTIN ASPHALT COMPANY and MARTIN PAVING COMPANY, were the Respondents below. They will be referred to in this brief collectively as "Martin Paving." Appellee, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, STATE OF FLORIDA, was the Petitioner below and will be referred to in this brief as "FDOT."

Citations to the Record will be cited as "R- " followed by the appropriate page number. Citations to the Transcript of Proceedings of the June 26, 1996 Hearing on Martin Paving's Motion to Award Attorneys' Fees will be cited as "Tr.- " followed by the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE

This case concerns an eminent domain proceeding in which FDOT took a portion of property owned by Martin Paving in Volusia County, Florida. FDOT had originally offered to settle the matter for \$106,200 (Tr-9-10) but ultimately paid Martin Paving \$500,000 for the taking. Thereafter, a hearing was held on June 26, 1996, to determine the reasonable attorneys' fees and costs that should be awarded Martin Paving for its defense of the case. R-1-131.

Following the hearing, the trial court entered an Order On Award of Attorneys' Fees And Costs. R-188-193. In that order, the trial court included an award of expert witness fees for James Spoonhour, Esquire, who testified as an expert witness in support of Martin Paving's request for attorneys' fees. The trial court's order stated as follows:

The Court finds that a reasonable fee for the services of James Spoonhour is \$1,950 based upon 6.5 hours reasonably expended at \$300 per hour in preparation for and testifying on the attorney's fee issue in this cause.

FDOT thereafter appealed the award to the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District. In defending the above award, Martin Paving specifically brought to the appellate court's attention this Court decision in <u>Travieso v. Travieso</u>, 474 So. 2d 1184 (Fla. 1985). In that decision, this Court held that under §92.231, <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, "expert witness fees, at the discretion of the trial court, may be taxed as costs for a lawyer who testifies as an expert as to reasonable attorneys' fees." By order of October 14, 1997, however, the district court reversed the trial judge's order and specifically directed: "There should be no

award of fees for the expert witness." The district court's decision was in no way based upon the trial court having abused its discretion. It was rather a directive that no such fees shall be awarded.

Martin Paving thereafter filed an Amended Motion for Rehearing in which it reminded the district court of the law as set forth by this Court in <u>Travieso</u>. Martin Paving also argued that the district court had improperly eliminated the discretion this Court accorded trial judges to award expert witness fees for a lawyer who testifies as an expert witness as to reasonable attorneys' fees. Nevertheless, on November 17, 1997, the district court denied Martin Paving's Motion for Rehearing. Martin Paving timely appealed that decision.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court of Appeal, Fifth District has held, as a matter of law, that a trial court in an eminent domain proceeding cannot award as costs fees incurred by a lawyer who testifies as an expert witness as to reasonable attorneys' fees. The decision of the district court cannot, however, be reconciled with the previous decision of this Court in Travieso, 474 So. 2d at 1184, in which this Court, citing §92.231, Fla. Stat., held that "expert witness fees, at the discretion of the trial court, may be taxed as costs for a lawyer who testifies as an expert as to reasonable attorneys' fees." Thus, Martin Paving contends that the decision of the district court expressly and directly conflicts with the previous decision of this Court.

The district court's decision is also in conflict with the decisions of the District Court of Appeal, Second District in Stokus v. Phillips, 651 So. 2d 1244 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995); and Straus v. Morton F. Plant Hosp. Foundation, Inc., 478 So. 2d 472 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). In those decisions, the District Court of Appeal, Second District, held that when, as here, the testifying attorney expects to be compensated for his testimony, an award of such fees is not even discretionary, but mandatory.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

ARGUMENT

The decision of the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, in this case expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of this Court in <u>Travieso v. Travieso</u>, 474 So. 2d 1184 (Fla. 1985). In <u>Travieso</u>, this Court expressly recognized that a trial court has discretion to award expert witness fees to any lawyer who testifies as an expert as to reasonable attorneys' fees. That decision was based on §92.231, <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, which provides that any witness who offers himself or herself in the trial of any civil action as an expert witness "shall be allowed a witness fee" and gives the trial court discretion to award such amount as he or she "may deem reasonable." The decision of the district court expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's decision.

This Court's decision in <u>Travieso</u> was subsequently applied by the District Court of Appeal, Second District and interpreted to hold that when, as in the instant case, the testifying attorney expects to be compensated for his testimony, an award of such fees is not discretionary, but mandatory. <u>Stokus</u>, 651 So. 2d at 1244; <u>Straus</u>, 478 So. 2d at

472. Thus, the decision of the district court expressly and directly conflicts with those decisions, as well as with this Court's decision in <u>Travieso</u>.

The decision is also in direct conflict with the Statewide Uniform Guidelines for Taxation of Costs in Civil Actions, which provides that a reasonable sum should be paid expert witnesses for testimony at trial.

Neither <u>Travieso</u> nor the Statewide Uniform Guidelines provides any exemption for attorneys testifying in eminent domain proceedings. In fact, the award of fees for attorneys testifying as to reasonable attorneys' fees is particularly appropriate in an eminent domain proceeding where a property owner is entitled, under the Florida Constitution, to be made whole, which includes receiving reasonable fees for the defense of any such action. <u>Dade County v. Brigham</u>, 47 So. 2d 602, 604-605 (Fla. 1950).

The mandate of the Florida Constitution that a property owner shall be made whole in an eminent domain proceeding is codified as §73.091(1), Fla. Stat. However, to be made whole by receiving reimbursement for legal fees, it is necessary for a defendant in an eminent domain proceeding to provide expert testimony to assist the court in establishing a reasonable fee. See, Schwartz, Gold & Cohen, P.A. v. Streicher, 549 So. 2d 1044 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989); Clark v. Squire, Sanders & Dempsey, 495 So. 2d 264 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986). Under §73.092, Fla. Stat. (1993), the trial court is specifically required to consider such factors as the monetary and nonmonetary benefits obtained, the novelty, difficulty and importance of the questions involved, the skill employed by the attorney, the responsibility incurred and fulfilled by the attorney, the attorney's time and

labor reasonably required to represent the client in relation to the benefits resulting to the client and the fee customarily charged for legal services of a comparable or similar nature. Only an attorney skilled in eminent domain proceedings can offer expert testimony on such issues. There is no reason his or her testimony, unlike that of any other expert witness, should be given without compensation.

CONCLUSION

To recover the reasonable attorneys' fees to which it was entitled, both by the Florida Constitution and by § 73.091(1), Fla. Stat., Martin Paving was required to obtain the services of an attorney to testify as an expert witness as to reasonable attorneys' fees. By denying the trial court discretion to award that attorney for his services, the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, directly violated the holding of this Court in Travieso, the provisions of the Statewide Uniform Guidelines for Taxation of Costs in Civil Actions, and the mandate of the Florida Constitution as interpreted by this Court in Brigham. It also placed itself in direct conflict with the decisions of the District Court of Appeal, Second District in Stokus, 651 So. 2d at 1244 and Straus, 478 So. 2d at 472.

Pursuant to 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), Fla. R. App. P., this Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision below. For all of the above reasons Martin Paving