PHS

FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEC 30 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT Sy\_\_\_ Chief Deputy Cierk

RICHARD KEITH MARTIN, ROBERT DOUGLAS MARTIN, MARTIN COMPANIES, OF DAYTONA BEACH, MARTIN ASPHALT COMPANY, AND MARTIN PAVING COMPANY,

Petitioners,

vs.

CASE NO. 92,046

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FIFTH DISTRICT

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Richard Keith Martin, Robert Douglas Martin, Martin Companies, of Daytona Beach, Martin Asphalt Company, and Martin Paving Company, respondents/appellees below and petitioners herein, will be referred to collectively as "MARTIN."

The STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION petitioner/appellant below, and respondent herein, will be referred to as the "DEPARTMENT."

Citations to the opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal attached hereto as the appendix will be in form of (A.) followed by the appropriate page number(s). Citations to Martin's Jurisdictional Brief will be in the form of (JB. ) followed by the appropriate page numbers(s).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Martin, which owned property subject to an eminent domain proceeding initiated in connection with the reconstruction of Nova Road<sup>1</sup> in Volusia County, seeks extraordinary review of a portion of the reversal by the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, of an order awarding attorney's fees and expert fees claiming conflict with <u>Travieso v. Travieso</u>, 474 So. 2d 1184 (Fla. 1985); <u>Stokus v.</u> <u>Phillips</u>, 651 So. 2d 1244 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995); and <u>Straus v. Morton F. Plant Hosp. Found., Inc., 478 So. 2d 472 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). (JB. 1-2)</u>

Below, the issues of compensation to Martin were settled at mediation for \$500,000 for a difference of \$393,800 from the last written offer. Attorneys' fees were sought, a hearing was held, and the trial court entered an order awarding an attorneys' fee of \$110,000 (\$51,980.50 lodestar based upon 306 hours, adjusted "upwards" resulting in the exact fee testified to by the owner's expert witness). (A. 1) The trial court also awarded \$1,956.50 to James Spoonhour for testifying on behalf of Martin's attorneys as to the amount of fees they should receive. (A. 1) The Department timely appealed and the Fifth District Court remanded for reduction of the award to the attorneys and vacated the award to the attorneys' expert. On December 11, 1997, Martin filed a "Notice of Appeal" seeking review of that portion of the opinion regarding the fee to the expert pursuant to this Court's conflict jurisdiction.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Coincidentally, the landowner was awarded the construction contract for the Nova Road project.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), this Court has the discretion to exercise its jurisdiction "to review . . . decisions of district courts of appeal that . . . expressly and directly conflict with a decision of . . . the supreme court on the same question of law." (emphasis supplied). The parameters of this "express and direct conflict," that such conflict must appear within the four corners of the majority decision, are well established. Department of Health & Rehabilitative Servs. v. Nat'l Adoption Counseling Serv., Inc., 498 So. 2d 888, 889 (Fla. 1986) (quoting Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986)); Kincaid v. World Ins. Co., 157 So. 2d 517, 518 (Fla. 1963).

The majority opinion is faithful to this Court's decision in Travieso, a dissolution proceeding, and the district court of appeal opinions in Stokus and Straus, probate matters. Travieso, 474 So. 2d 1184; Stokus, 651 So. 2d 1244; and Straus, 478 So. 2d 472. The petition fails to show that the district court's opinion directly and expressly conflicts with any of the cases relied upon and, thus, fails to establish jurisdiction in this Court. The petition should be denied.

#### JURISDICTIONAL ARGUMENT

THE PETITION FAILS TO ESTABLISH JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE OPINION DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH <u>TRAVIESO</u> OR OTHER DECISIONS CONSTRUING <u>TRAVIESO</u> ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW

Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure Pursuant to 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), this Court has the discretion to exercise its jurisdiction "to review . . . decisions of district courts of appeal that . . . expressly and directly conflict with a decision of . . . the supreme court on the same question of law." (emphasis The narrow parameters of this Court's conflict supplied). jurisdiction that "express and direct conflict, i.e., [conflict which] must appear within the four corners of the majority decision, " are well established. National Adoption, 498 So. 2d at 889; Kincaid, 157 So. 2d at 518.

To establish jurisdiction, Martin must assert and establish the express and direct conflict resulting from the four corners of the opinion, which is a simple and straightforward application of the law regarding attorney's fees in eminent domain proceedings:

> Time spent litigating a fee amount is not compensable since the condemnee has no interest in the amount of the fee, the benefit of which inures solely to its attorney. Therefore, the condemning authority should not bear the costs involved in proving the amount of the fee. Department of Transp. v. Winter Park Golf Club, Inc., 687 So. 2d 970 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997). The condemnee is only entitled to fees that are reasonable, Delco, and the condemning authority is not required to pay any more than a reasonable fee, City of Orlando v. Kensington, Ltd., 580 So. 2d 830 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). Since DOT is required to pay a reasonable fee, the condemnee in this a

case, whose attorney receives the fee, has no interest in the amount of the fee from DOT. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Palma, 629 So. 2d 830 (Fla. 1993). (A. 2)

The opinion is entirely faithful to this Court's majority opinion in <u>Travieso</u> and its holding:

We hold that pursuant to section 92.231, expert witness fees, at the discretion of the trial court, may be taxed as costs for a lawyer who testifies as an expert as to reasonable attorney's fees. We do not hold that such expert witness fees must be awarded in all cases. Generally, lawyers are willing to testify gratuitously for other lawyers on the issue of reasonable attorney's fees. This traditionally has been a matter of professional courtesy. An attorney is an officer of the court and should be willing to give the expert testimony necessary to ensure that the trial court has the competent evidence to determine requisite Only in the exceptional case reasonable fees. where the time required for preparation and testifying is burdensome, should the attorney expect compensation.

Travieso, 474 So. 2d at 1186 (emphasis added).

The district court's opinion inherently recognizes the principles of this Court's majority opinion in <u>Travieso</u> and applies them to the law regarding eminent domain proceedings. The opinion in this case does not conflict with the majority in <u>Travieso</u>, the result is merely different because the facts are different, the law of eminent domain is different from general civil litigation, and differing facts require different results.

Similarly, there is no direct and express conflict with <u>Stokus</u> or <u>Straus</u>, both of which are probate matters. In both cases, the Second District Court of Appeal construed this Court's opinion in <u>Travieso</u> to mean that a trial court has no discretion in the award of an expert attorney fee if "the testifying attorney expects to be compensated for his testimony." <u>Stokus</u>, 651 So. 2d at 1246; <u>Straus</u>, 478 So. 2d at 473. That court's dictum is neither binding on other district courts, nor relevant to the facts or the law applied by the district court in this case. Clearly no conflict is created by the district court's opinion in this case and those comments.

By their references to this Court's opinion in Dade County v. Brigham, 47 So. 2d 602 (Fla. 1950), Martin's attorneys appear to suggest that it also requires a different result from that reached by the district court. It does not. Martin's attorneys claim that a fee to an attorney testifying on behalf of an attorney at a hearing to determine the **amount** of the attorney's fee (not to the issue of entitlement, because entitlement is rarely, if ever, an issue in an eminent domain proceeding) is required in an eminent domain proceeding because "a property owner is entitled, under the Florida Constitution, to be made whole, which includes receiving reasonable fees for the defense of any such action." (JB. 4) The purpose of Section 73.091, Florida Statutes, in accordance with Article X, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution, is to ensure "just compensation" to the property owner. Contrary to Martin's attorneys' assertion otherwise, the fee awarded to the attorney expert in this case had absolutely nothing to do with the "defense of [the eminent domain] action."

Attorneys' fees are awardable pursuant to Section 73.091, Florida Statutes, and <u>Brigham</u> "because it cannot be said that [a property owner] has received 'just compensation' for his property

if he is compelled to pay out of his own pocket the **expenses of establishing the fair value of the property** . . . . " <u>Brigham</u>, 47 So. 2d at 604-605(emphasis added). Mr. Spoonhour was testifying on behalf of Martin's attorneys and his opinion had nothing whatsoever to do with establishing the fair value of Martin's property.

The cost, if any, of an expert's testimony to support an attorney's fee is not an expense incurred to establish the fair value of the property. Rather, it is a cost of the attorney's doing business, a cost of litigating <u>the amount</u> of attorney's fees, which "inures solely to the attorney's benefit and cannot be considered services rendered in procuring full payment of the judgment [or just compensation]." <u>State Farm Fire & Casualty Co. v.</u> <u>Palma</u>, 629 So. 2d 830, 833 (Fla. 1993); <u>Seminole County v. Butler</u>, 676 So. 2d 451, 455 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996). This Court recognized in <u>Palma</u> that even a party's attorney is not entitled to additional fees for time spent litigating the amount of fees to be awarded, as opposed to entitlement:

> However, we do not agree with the district court below that attorney's fees may be awarded for litigating the amount of attorney's fees. The language of the statute does not support such a conclusion. Such work inures solely to the attorney's benefit and cannot be considered services rendered in procuring full payment of the judgment.

## Palma, 629 So. 2d at 833.

Thus, the district court's opinion is entirely faithful to <u>Travieso</u> and <u>Palma</u> because if the attorneys themselves are not entitled to additional fees for determining the amount of money

they will receive, there is no entitlement to a fee for an expert who testifies on behalf of the attorneys. Neither the Constitution, the statute, nor any of the cases cited by Martin as being in direct and express conflict with the district court's opinion in this case meet the threshold for establishing jurisdiction with this Court. None of those authorities requires a condemning authority to pay for time spent by lawyers to argue over how much they should receive (as opposed to how much the property owner should receive as fair value for the property) and then pay again for the time spent by other lawyers to figure out how to justify the fee.

In fact, the comment by Martin's attorneys that "only an attorney skilled in eminent domain proceedings can offer expert testimony . . [Therefore] [t]here is no reason his or her testimony, unlike that of any other expert witness, should be given without compensation" (JB. 5) flies in the face of everything this Court has ever said about attorneys and the fact they should testify as "a matter of professional courtesy." <u>Travieso</u>, 474 So. 2d at 1187. Or, as more strongly stated by Justice Ehrlich: "I would nonetheless hope that these professional courtesies that over the years lawyers traditionally extended to each other in this area do not go the way of the five cent cigar and the nickel Baby Ruth and Hershey bar." <u>Id.</u> at 1187. The district court recognizes those principles and by its opinion applies them and supports this Court's opinion in <u>Travieso</u>.

## CONCLUSION

٩.

,

Because Martin's petition fails to establish the direct and express conflict required to establish jurisdiction, it should be rejected.